
 

 

 

 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
2.00 PM - TUESDAY, 14 FEBRUARY 2017 

 
COMMITTEE ROOMS 1/2 - PORT TALBOT CIVIC CENTRE 

 

 
 
 PART 1 

 
1.  To receive any declarations of interest from Members.   

 
2.  To receive the Minutes of the previous meeting held on 31 January 

2017  (Pages 5 - 10) 
 

3.  To Request Site Visit(s) from the Applications Presented   
 

 Report of the Head of Planning 
 

 Section A - Matters for Decision 
 

 Planning Application Recommended for Approval 
 

4.  Application No: P2016/0639 - Re-profiling and change of use of 
land into residential garden area, retention of outbuilding, retaining 
wall and hardstanding with associated drainage works to facilitate 
parking.  Brynawel, Blaenafon, Tonmawr, Port Talbot. SA12 9SY.  
(Pages 11 - 18) 
 

 Planning Application Recommended for Refusal 
 

5.  Application No: P2016/1051 Variation of condition 1 and 2 of 
planning permission (ref APP/Y6930/C/163150026 which granted a 
mixed residential Class C3 and music lesson sui generis use) 
approved at appeal on 10 October 2016 to increase number of 
students to 8 and change hours of operation to 12.00 to 20.30hrs 
Monday to Wednesday, 12.00hrs to 20.00hrs Thursday and Friday 

AGENDA 



and 9.00hrs to 15.00 on Saturdays.  26 Rowan Tree Close, 
Bryncoch, Neath. SA10 7SJ.  (Pages 19 - 48) 
 

 Section B - Matters for Information 
 

6.  Delegated Applications Determined Between 25 January 2017 and 
5 February 2017  (Pages 49 - 54) 
 

7.  Appeals Determined between the 25 January and 5 February 2017  
(Pages 55 - 56) 
 

8.  Appeals Received between the 25 January and the  
5 February 2017  (Pages 57 - 58) 
 

9.  Any urgent items at the discretion of the Chairman pursuant to 
Section 100B(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972.   
 

 
S.Phillips 

Chief Executive 
 

Civic Centre 
Port Talbot Tuesday, 7 February 2017 
 
 
 
Committee Membership:  
 
Chairperson: Councillor R.G.Jones 

 
Vice 
Chairperson: 
 

Councillor E.E.Jones 
 

Members: 
 

Councillors Mrs.A.Chaves, D.W.Davies, 
Mrs.R.Davies, S.K.Hunt, D.Keogh, C.Morgan, 
Mrs.S.Paddison, R.Thomas, Mrs.L.G.Williams,  
and R.Phillips 
 

Cabinet 
UDP/LDP 
Member: 

Councillor A.J.Taylor 

 



 
Requesting to Speak at Planning Committee 
 
The public have a right to attend the meeting and address the Committee 
in accordance with the Council’s approved procedure  which is available 
at www.npt.gov.uk/planning. 
 
If you would like to speak at Planning Committee on an application 
reported to this Committee you must: 
 

 Contact Democratic Services in writing at : Civic Centre, Port Talbot 
SA13 1PJ, preferably by email: democratic.services@npt.gov.uk.  

 Ensure your request to speak is made no later than two working 
days prior to the meeting date (by 2 pm on the preceding Friday 
based on a usual Tuesday meeting),  

 Clearly indicate the item number or application number on which 
you wish to speak and confirm whether you are supporting or 
objecting to the application. 

 Give your name and address (which will be publicly available unless 
there are particular reasons for confidentiality) 

 
Please note that only one person is able to speak for each ‘category’ 
(objector; supporter; applicant/agent; Town/Community Council for each 
application.  Full details are available in the Council’s approved 
procedure. 
 
In addition, if an objector registers to speak, the Applicant/Agent will be 
notified by the Council. 
 
Should you wish to discuss any aspect of public speaking, please contact 
the Democratic Services Team on 01639 763713. 

Commenting on planning applications which are to be reported to 
Committee 

Should you wish to submit representations on an application presented to 
this Planning Committee, please note that these must be received by the 
Planning department no later than 2.00p.m. on the Friday before 
Committee (based on the usual Tuesday meeting).  If the meeting is not 
on a Tuesday, these should be received no later than 2.00pm on the 
penultimate working day immediately preceding the Planning Committee.  

http://www.npt.gov.uk/pdf/procedure_note_for_new_%20planning_cttee_arrangments_final_version.pdf
http://www.npt.gov.uk/planning
mailto:democratic.services@npt.gov.uk
http://www.npt.gov.uk/pdf/procedure_note_for_new_%20planning_cttee_arrangments_final_version.pdf
http://www.npt.gov.uk/pdf/procedure_note_for_new_%20planning_cttee_arrangments_final_version.pdf


Please note that representations received in accordance with the 
Council’s protocol are summarised and, where necessary, commented 
upon in the form of an Amendment Sheet, which is circulated to Members 
of the Planning Committee by email on the evening before Committee, 
and re-distributed prior to the commencement of the meeting. 

 
 
 



- 43 - 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Members Present:  31 January 2017 
 
 
Chairperson: 
 

Councillor R.G.Jones 
 

Councillors: 
 

D.W.Davies, Mrs.R.Davies, S.K.Hunt, D.Keogh, 
C.Morgan, Mrs.S.Paddison, R.Thomas, 
Mrs.L.G.Williams and R.Phillips. 
 

Officers In 
Attendance 
 

Mrs.N.Pearce, S.Ball, I.Davies, D.M.Adlam, 
R.Borthwick, P.Coleman and 
Mrs. J.Woodman-Ralph. 
 

 

 
1. MEMBERS DECLARATIONS  

 
The following Members made declarations at the commencement of 
the meeting:- 
 
Councillor R.G.Jones Report of the Head of Planning Re: 

Application Number P2016/1022 
Construction of a part three and part 
two storey all-through school building 
(for ages 3 years to 16).  Groes 
Primary School and Dyffryn Upper 
School, Bertha Road, Margam, Port 
Talbot . SA13 2AW, as he is 
governor of the shadow governing 
body on the new school. 
 

Councillor D.Keogh Report of the Head of Planning Re: 
Application Number P2016/1022 
Construction of a part three and part 
two storey all-through school building 
(for ages 3 years to 16).  Groes 
Primary School and Dyffryn Upper 
School, Bertha Road, Margam, Port 
Talbot . SA13 2AW, as he is 
governor on the shadow governing 
body of the new school. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 

310117 

Councillor R.Davies Report of the Head of Planning Re: 
Application Number  P2016/1023. 
Construction of a two storey welsh 
medium secondary school for ages 
11 to 16 years.  Former Sandfields 
Comprehensive and Traethmelyn 
Primary School, Southdown View, 
Sandfields, Port Talbot. SA12 7AH 
and  Application Number 
P2016/1090. Construction of a two 
storey school building (for pupils age 
3 - 11). Ysgol Gyfun Ystalyfera, Glan 
Yr Afon, Ystalyfera, Swansea.  
SA9 2JJ as she is a school governor 
at Ysgol Gyfun Ystalyfera. 
 
 

2. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING HELD ON THE 10 
JANUARY 2017  
 
RESOLVED: That the Minutes of the Planning Committee 

held on the 10 January 2017 as circulated, 
be confirmed as a true record. 

 
(Note: An amendment sheet in relation to Application Numbers: 
P2016/1022 and P2016/1023 was circulated prior to the meeting, on 
which the Chairperson had allowed sufficient time for Members to 
read, in respect of application items on the published agenda, the 
Chairperson had permitted urgent circulation/consideration thereof at 
today’s meeting, the particular reasons and circumstances being not 
to further delay the planning process, unless the Committee itself 
wanted to defer any applications and to ensure that Members take all 
extra relevant information into account before coming to any decision 
at the meeting). 
 
 

3. APPLICATION NO: P2016/1022  
 
At this point in the meeting the Chairperson re-affirmed his interest in 
the item, relinquished the chair and withdrew from the meeting, where 
the Committee agreed for Cllr.D.W.Davies to take the Chair for this 
item only. 
 
Cllr.D.Keogh also re-affirmed his interest in the item and withdrew 
from the meeting for this item only. 

Page 6



 

310117 

 
Officers made a presentation to the Planning Committee on this 
Application as detailed in the circulated report. 
 
RESOLVED That in accordance with Officers 

recommendations Application No. P2016/1022 
be approved with conditions as detailed within 
the circulated report, and also subject to the 
additional condition no. 37 (with subsequent 
conditions re-numbered 38-42) as detailed in 
the circulated amendment sheet as follows: 
 

(37)Prior to the first beneficial use of the 
school commencing, a scheme detailing the 
number, type and location of the solar PV 
panels shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
approved solar panels shall be installed prior 
to the first use of the school, and maintained 
at all times thereafter for energy generation. 
 
Reason: 
 
In the interest of visual amenity and in 
accordance with Policy RE2 of the Neath 
Port Talbot Unitary Development Plan. 
 
 

4. APPLICATION NO: P2016/1023  
 
Cllr.R.G.Jones returned as Chairperson for the rest of the meeting. 
 
At this point in the meeting Cllr.R.Davies re-affirmed her interest in 
the following items and withdrew from the rest of the meeting. 
 
Officers made a presentation to the Planning Committee on this 
Application as detailed in the circulated report. 
 
RESOLVED: That in accordance with Officers 

recommendations Application No. P2016/1023 be 
approved with conditions as detailed within the 
circulated report, and also subject to the 
additional condition no. 24 (with subsequent 
conditions re-numbered 25-31) as detailed in the 
circulated amendment sheet as follows: 

Page 7



 

310117 

 
(24)Prior to the first beneficial use of school 
commencing, a scheme detailing the number, 
type and location of the solar PV panels shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The approved solar 
panels shall be installed prior to the first use of 
the school, and maintained at all times 
thereafter for energy generation. 
 
Reason: 
 
In the interest of visual amenity and in 
accordance with Policy RE2 of the Neath Port 
Talbot Unitary Development Plan. 
 
 

5. APPLICATION NO: P2016/1090  
 
Officers made a presentation to the Planning Committee on the 
application as detailed in the circulated report. 
 
RESOLVED: That in accordance with Officers 

recommendations Application No. P2016/1090 be 
approved with conditions as detailed in the 
circulated report. 
 
 

6. DELEGATED APPLICATIONS DETERMINED BETWEEN 3 
JANUARY AND 24 JANUARY 2017  
 
Members received a list of Planning Applications which had been 
determined between the 3 January 2017 and 24 January 2017, as 
detailed within the circulated report. 
 
RESOLVED: That the report be noted. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



 

310117 

7. APPEALS RECEIVED  
 
RESOLVED: That the following Appeals received, as detailed 

in the circulated report, be noted: 
 
Appeal Ref: A2017/0001 – Outline Application 
for detached bungalow at land at 1 Rockchwyth 
Road, Alltwen, Pontardawe. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

CHAIRPERSON 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



SECTION A – MATTERS FOR DECISION 
 
Planning Applications Recommended For Approval 

 

APPLICATION NO: P2016/0639 DATE: 17/01/2017 
PROPOSAL: Re-profiling and change of use of land into residential 

garden area, retention of outbuilding, retaining wall and 
hardstanding with associated drainage works to 
facilitate parking 

LOCATION: Brynawel, Blaenafon, Tonmawr, Port Talbot SA12 9SY 
APPLICANT: Mr & Mrs Thomas 
TYPE: Change of Use 
WARD: Pelenna 
 

SITE AND CONTEXT 
 
The site comprises a semi-detached dwelling located outside settlement 
limits in Blaenafon, Tonmawr. The property is sited at a higher level than 
the road to the front and is bounded to the northern and eastern sides by 
fields.  The application property provides parking within its front curtilage. 
 
DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT 
 
This is a full application proposing retention of the re-profiling and change 
of use of land to the eastern side of the dwelling house into residential 
garden area, retention of outbuilding, retaining wall and hardstanding with 
associated drainage works to facilitate parking. 
 
All plans / documents submitted in respect of this application can be viewed 
on the Council’s online register.   
 
NEGOTIATIONS: 
 
The application was initially submitted indicating the red edge area around 
the site including an additional area of land to the north eastern side of the 
dwelling house.  However, this additional area at a higher level to the rear 
of the existing outbuildings does not appear to have been used. The 
applicant and agent were advised to reduce the red edged area solely to 
the eastern side of the dwelling which is relatively level and the majority of 
the evidence supports the use of this land as residential garden area for a 
number of years and also includes the parking area to the front.  As such, 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4

http://appsportal.npt.gov.uk/ords/idocs12/f?p=Planning:2:0::NO::P2_REFERENCE:P2016/0639


an amended plan was submitted indicating the revised red line with the 
remainder of the land outlined in blue. 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
The application site has the following relevant planning history: - 
 

• P99/0894 – Single storey extension Approved 20/09/1999 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Councillor Martin Ellis (Pelenna Ward) – Offers his support for the 
application, stating that Mr. Thomas has made remarkable efforts to nurse 
and support his wife who has serious medical problems. He has had a 
disabled platform installed through council grant and an annexe converted 
to deal with her requirements. The work undertaken in the garden and 
additional small piece of land and parking area to the front he understand 
now complies with their requirements.  The matter of potential change of 
use from agriculture land to garden he believes here is academic, and open 
to interpretation, as the land has not been in open use for a great many 
years and its current use for cultivation is no different to a farmer using a 
portion of land for growing vegetables.  
 
Pelenna Community Council – Strongly support the application. 
 
Head of Engineering and Transport (Highways) - No objection. 
 
Head of Engineering and Transport (Drainage) - No objection 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
The neighbouring property was consulted on 26/10/17 and 20/01/17, with 
the application also advertised by site notices on 27/10/17 and 20/01/17, 
and in the press (as a departure from the Development Plan) on 28/10/16 
and 24/01/17. 
 
In response, to date 1 no. representation from Pelenna Community 
Councillor D J Sparkes has been received, with the issues raised 
summarised as follows: - 
 

• Applicant has stated that in the application form the proposal is not 
within 20 metres of a watercourse. However, the Cllr. states that it is 
near a water course which has been altered and has concerns 

Page 12



regarding flooding to the highway adjacent to the development on a 
nasty bend at gradient. 

• Development by its nature is adjacent to the highway, yet there are 
no clear road markings distinguishing the development from the 
highway, this could be a problem in the case of accident litigation and 
the highways authority have a duty of care to road users. 

 
Six letters from neighbouring residents in support of the application have 
been submitted advising that the applicants in 1989/1990 had annexed the 
additional land to their property and enclosed it with a post and wire fence 
and used the land to grow vegetables. 
 
REPORT 
 
Planning Policies 
 
The Development Plan for the area comprises the Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan which was adopted in January 2016, and within which 
the following policies are of relevance: 
 
• Policy SC1 Settlement limits 
• Policy TR2  Design and Access of New Development  
• Policy BE1  Design  
• Policy SP14  The Countryside and the Undeveloped Coast 
 
Issues 
 
The main issues to be considered with regard to this application relate to 
the principle and impact of the change of use of the land into residential 
curtilage at this location having regard to the prevailing planning policies, 
the potential impact upon residential and visual amenity and the impact 
upon highway safety. 
 
Principle of Development 
 
The application site lies outside the settlement limits defined in the adopted 
Local Development Plan and, as such, must be considered in the context of 
the countryside protection policies outlined above.  
 
Members should note that the application is a departure from the 
development plan as the applicant proposes the retention of the re-profiling 
and change of use of land into residential garden area, the retention of the 

Page 13

https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=38
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=84
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=87
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=70


outbuilding, retaining wall and hard standing with associated drainage 
works to facilitate parking. 
 
The applicant advises that he has owned and used as residential garden, 
part of the land edged in red to the eastern side of the dwelling since 2000.  
He has also bought the remaining land within the red edged line in 2012.  
An Ordnance Survey Location plan dated in 1968 indicates a boundary line 
between the area outlined in red and the neighbouring fields. Aerial 
photographs from 2004 indicate a clear boundary post and wire fence line 
on a raised area of ground separating it from the adjacent field and 
enclosing it as part of the residential curtilage of Brynawel.   
 
Google Earth also shows that part of this land to the front was also used for 
the parking of vehicles during this period with no obvious markings on the 
road to delineate the hard surface from the highway other than the use of 
differing materials i.e. concrete for the hardstanding as opposed to 
tarmacadam for the highway.  A drainage ditch also appears within the 
grassed area which ran from the upper most part of this land culminating at 
a lower level in the grassed area adjacent to the highway.  Part of the land 
bought in 2012 appears to have been re-profiled and a retaining wall and 
extended hardstanding to facilitate a formal parking space with associated 
drainage works i.e. a drain and aco drain have been included within the red 
line area.   
 
This element of the proposal would not strictly comply with Policy SP14 
detailed above, however the land to be included would regularize the use 
of the land as a garden area – which as referred to above appears to have 
had semi/domestic use for in excess of ten years - with a defendable 
boundary line and the retention of a parking area to enable the disabled 
applicant to access and egress the vehicle safely without obstructing the 
adjacent highway.  
 
Whilst it is considered that these works are visually prominent, they are 
adjacent to the existing dwelling and garden and would be considered to 
have an appearance in keeping with the dwelling.  
 
Having particular regard to the previous use of this land in connection with 
the dwelling for many years – which it is likely could be proven through a 
Certificate of Lawfulness - it is therefore considered that the change of use 
of land and the retention of the developments are relatively small in scale 
and would have little adverse impact upon the visual amenity of the wider 
surrounding countryside to which it relates and that in this case would be 
considered acceptable as it would help to facilitate the necessary 

Page 14



alterations to the dwelling to allow the residents to continue to occupy the 
property. 
 
Impact on Visual Amenity 
 
The application involves a new 5.8m wide block work retaining wall with a 
maximum height of approx. 1.1m retaining an area of land to the rear of the 
new hard standing which has a width of 5m and approx. depth of 4.8m. 
Whilst the developments are visible from the street scene, the additional 
area that has been hard surfaced replaces the former hard surfaced area 
that had no drainage within its surface and the retaining wall is also typical 
of structures found within residential properties.  
 
The retention of the existing shed which has been used in association with 
part of the land edged in red, purchased in 2000 and used as such for over 
10 years would be considered to be exempt from enforcement action.  
Furthermore, the remaining land within the red edged area purchased in 
2012 which is proposed to be included within the residential garden area 
also appears to have been in use as garden area for a number of years 
before its purchase and has a clearly defendable boundary fence.  The 
area is relatively small in scale in relation to the original plot area and that 
of the adjoining dwelling and would have no adverse impact upon the 
visual amenity of the immediate and wider surrounding areas. 
 
Impact on Residential Amenity 
 
The proposals are located on the area of land to the side of the dwelling 
and at the lower front garden area.  As such, it is considered that these 
works and proposed use would have no adverse impact upon the 
residential amenity of the occupiers of the adjacent dwelling. 
 
Parking and Access Requirements and Impact on Highway Safety 
 
The scheme proposes a disabled parking area, approx. 5m wide on the 
extended land to the side of the dwelling.  The Head of Engineering and 
Highways (Highways) has raised no highway objection.   
 
Drainage  
 
In response to the local representations, the Drainage Officer has advised 
that historical ordnance survey plans indicate a spring within the boundary 
of the site that at some point may have been piped as suggested by the 
gully within the concrete ramp to the parking area. There are no records of 

Page 15



this being done however he would suggest historically this spring/issue has 
always drained towards this location. At some point during the expansion of 
Tonmawr this spring was culverted and probably utilised for highway 
drainage.  
 
He further advises that the applicant appears to have constructed adequate 
drainage for intercepting the run-off from the hardstanding and connected it 
to the existing piped section within his land. The area of hard surfacing to 
be retained also has an aco drain incorporated into its design thereby 
ensuring adequate measures to ensure that surface water from this area 
would not drain onto the highway.  
 
As such, the Head of Engineering and Highways (Drainage) offers no 
drainage objection 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
The decision to recommend planning permission has been taken in 
accordance with Section 38 of The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004, which requires that, in determining a planning application the 
determination must be in accordance with the Development Plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise.  The Development Plan 
comprises the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan (2011–2026) 
adopted January 2016. 
 
Having regard to the historical use of this land, it is considered that the 
retention of the developments would represent a minor encroachment into 
the countryside with no adverse impacts upon the visual amenity of the 
area and would accordingly not have a detrimental impact upon the 
character or appearance of the property and surrounding countryside, or on 
residential amenity, and there would be no adverse impact upon highway 
and pedestrian safety. Accordingly the development represents an 
acceptable minor departure to Policies SC1, BE1, TR2 and SP14 of the 
Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. Approval is therefore 
recommended.  

RECOMMENDATION: Approval with Conditions 
 

Page 16



CONDITIONS 
 
Approved Plans 

(1))The development is hereby  approved in accordance with the following 
plans: 

i.   Location plan, drawing no. PT/2017/01/A received on 17/01/17. 
ii.  Block plan, drawing no. PT/2017/02/A received on 17/01/17. 
iii.  Site plan, drawing no. J1529/200A3/1.1 received on 28/09/16. 
iv. Floor and elevation plans of disabled parking area,  drawing no. 
PT/2016/03 received on 28/09/17. 
v.  Elevations and floor plans of shed, drawing no. PT/2016/04 received on 
28/09/16. 

Reason  

In the interest of clarity. 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



SECTION A – MATTERS FOR DECISION 
 
Planning Applications Recommended For Refusal 

 

APPLICATION NO: P2016/1051 DATE: 01/12/2016 
PROPOSAL: Variation of condition 1 and 2 of planning permission 

(ref APP/Y6930/C/163150026 which granted a mixed 
residential Class C3 and music lesson sui generis use) 
approved at appeal  on 10th October 2016  to increase 
number of student to 8 and change hours of operation 
to 12.00hrs to 20.30hrs Monday to Wednesday, 
12.00hrs to 20.00hrs Thursday and Friday and 09.00hrs 
to 15.00 on Saturdays 

LOCATION: 26 Rowan Tree Close,  Bryncoch , Neath  SA10 7SJ 
APPLICANT: Mr A Rees 
TYPE: Vary Condition 
WARD: Bryncoch South 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
While declaring a personal interest, Councillor Janice Dudley has 
requested that this application is reported to Planning Committee on the 
grounds that the suggested 6 month temporary permission would have  
only a temporary effect on the amenities of local neighbours against the 
economic benefits from a small increase in the number of students 
while the applicant finalises a move to alternative business premises. 
  
It is noted that this application has been submitted following the 
determination of an appeal against an Enforcement Notice on 10th 
October 2016 which, while granting planning permission for the use of 
the property as a mixed residential Class C3 and music lesson sui 
generis use (and quashing the Notice) nevertheless placed restrictions 
on the music lessons use which reflected those stated in the 
Enforcement Notice (see planning history section). 
 
SITE AND CONTEXT 
 
The application site comprises a detached dwelling located at 26 
Rowan Tree Close, Neath.  The dwelling is accessed via a private drive 
serving two other dwellings (as shown on the aerial photograph below). 
 

Page 19

Agenda Item 5



 
 
DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT 
 
This is an application made under Section 73 which seeks a variation of 
conditions 1 and 2 of planning permission ref. APP/Y6930/C/163150026 
(granted on 10th October 2016 following an enforcement appeal) which 
granted a mixed residential Class C3 and music lesson sui generis use 
of 26 Rowan Tree Close. 
 
The relevant conditions are as follows: 
 
1) No more than 6 students shall be taught on site each day. 
2) No music lessons are permitted on the premises on Sundays, 

Bank Holidays or outside of the hours of 09.00 to 20.00 Monday to 
Friday and 09.00 to 15.00 on Saturdays. 

 
This application seeks to amend these conditions imposed by the 
Inspector at appeal to increase the number of students to 8 (on all 
days), and change the hours of operation to 12.00hrs to 20.30hrs 
Monday to Wednesday, 12.00hrs to 20.00hrs Thursday and Friday and 
09.00hrs to 15.00 on Saturdays. 
 
The table below summarises the nature of the proposed changes: - 
 
Day Permitted hours 

of operation 
Requested 
hours of 

operation 

Permitted 
number of 
students 

Requested 
number of 
students 

Monday 09.00 until 20.00 12.00 until 20.30 6 8 
Tuesday 09.00 until 20.00 12.00 until 20.30 6 8 
Wednesday 09.00 until 20.00 12.00 until 20.30 6 8 
Thursday 09.00 until 20.00 12.00 until 20.00 6 8 
Friday 09.00 until 20.00 12.00 until 20.00 6 8 
Saturday 09.00 until 15.00 09.00 until 15.00 6 8 
Sunday/bank holidays No lessons No lesson No lessons No lessons 

Table 1 Hours of operation. 

Page 20



All plans / documents submitted in respect of this application can be 
viewed on the Council’s online register.   
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
The property in question has a detailed recent planning and 
enforcement history, which is summarised below: - 
 
• The Local Planning Authority (LPA) first received a complaint on 

the 26th June 2014 relating to guitar lessons 
 

• Following extensive discussions / investigations, a lawful 
development certificate application was submitted on 17th June 
2015 (P2015/0495), which was refused  on 1st March 2016 on the 
following grounds: -  

 
It is considered that the use, by reason of the number of students, 
hours of lessons, and associated movements of people coming 
and going within a small residential cul-de-sac of three dwellings, 
has a degree of impact on neighbours over and above what would 
normally be expected within a residential area, including at 
unsociable hours, and accordingly is not considered to be 
incidental to the main residential use of the property and to have 
altered the overall character of the property to such a degree to 
constitute a material change of use from residential into a mixed 
residential (Class C3) and commercial use (Sui Generis). It is 
therefore recommended not to issue the Lawful Development 
Certificate for the existing use and to take the necessary 
enforcement action as detailed in the next section. 

 
• Authorisation was also given to take enforcement action, with an 

Enforcement Notice subsequently served on 14th April 2016 to 
restrict the degree of activities to a level which would ensure that 
there is no material change in the character of the use for the 
property as a residential dwelling. 
 

• The applicant then submitted an appeal against the Notice (ref. 
APP/Y6930/C/16/3150026), with their appeal on ground (a) 
allowed, meaning the Enforcement Notice was quashed and 
planning permission granted on 5th October 2016 for the change 
of use from a residential dwelling (Class C3) to a mixed use of 
residential dwelling (Class C3) and commercial use for the 

Page 21

http://appsportal.npt.gov.uk/ords/idocs12/f?p=Planning:2:0::NO::P2_REFERENCE:P2016/1051


provision of music lessons (Sui Generis).  The Inspector imposed 
the following conditions: 

 
1) No more than 6 students shall be taught on site each day. 
2) No music lessons are permitted on the premises on Sundays, 

Bank Holidays or outside of the hours of 09.00 to 20.00 
Monday to Friday and 09.00 to 15.00 on Saturdays. 

3) The provision of music lessons shall only be conducted by the 
owner/ occupier of the property, with no other persons 
employed at the property in connection with the use hereby 
approved. 

4) The music lessons hereby permitted shall relate to the 
provision of guitar lessons only. 

 
A copy of the Inspector’s decision is included in full at Appendix A. 

 
• It is emphasised that, while the appeal was allowed, the inspector 

actually agreed on almost all counts with the way the LPA sought 
to control the level of activities at the property, choosing instead to 
grant planning permission as it allowed the best ability to control 
the use.  

 
• Since this decision the applicant has been given a 2 month ‘grace 

period’ to allow him sufficient time to reorganise his business to 
comply with the conditions, such period ending on the 5th 
December 2016.  

 
• On 1st December 2016, however, the applicant submitted this 

planning application (P2016/1051) to vary the conditions set by 
the Planning Inspectorate in October 2016. 

 
• Members attention is also drawn to the objectors’ ongoing contact 

with the LPA since this issue was first reported in June 2014 (30 
months), with continuing frequent complaints about the 
unacceptable impact the lessons are having on their amenity, and 
more recently advising that despite conditions being set that they 
are being breached. 

 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
None 
 

Page 22



REPRESENTATIONS 
 
The neighbouring properties were consulted on 12th December 2016, 
with a site notice also displayed on 20th December 2016. 
 
In response, to date 2 no. representations have been received, with the 
issues raised summarised as follows: - 
 

• Since the date of the Appeal, the applicant has not reduced his 
pupils to the permitted 6 per day ruling set by the planning 
inspectorate.  

• The applicant has already been given a 2 month grace period to 
rearrange his clients so that his business would comply with the 
conditions set by the inspectorate, despite this the applicant has 
continued to exceed the number of students and not abided by the 
hours of operation. 

• The applicant has stated in this application that he has reduced 
the level of activities at a considerable and unsustainable cost to 
his livelihood. This is disputed. 

• Cars continue to use the drive with parents sometimes sitting and 
waiting for their children with their engines running, this has a 
serious impact upon the neighbour’s residential amenity. 

• An objector has stated that Cllr J Dudley has requested that whilst 
Mr Rees looks for a suitable property to carry out the extra 
lessons that he is granted a further 6 months to teach the extra 
pupils at his home property. Mr Rees has already had many 
opportunities to look for a suitable property. As Mr Rees has 
continued to disregard the regulations set down by the council, 
further action should now be taken. 

• An objector has provided observation of the comings and goings 
from 2nd October 2016 to 31s December which show that he has 
continually breached the hours of operation and the hours of 
operation 

• If the applicant adhered to the condition he would have 36 pupils 
per week resulting in 72 comings and goings. If this is increased 
to 8 pupils this would result in 96 comings and goings, this could 
result in one car coming and going 4 times all within a half hour 
slot for one child’s lesson.  

• The Human rights act states that a person has their right to a 
peaceful enjoyment of their possessions which include the home. 
The continued breach of these condition is affecting the 
neighbours human rights 

 

Page 23



REPORT 
 
Planning Policies 
 
The Development Plan for the area comprises the Neath Port Talbot 
Local Development Plan which was adopted in January 2016, and 
within which the following policies are of relevance: 
 
• Policy BE1  Design  
 
Criterion 4 in particular states that development will only be permitted 
where …4. It would not have a significant adverse impact on highway 
safety, the amenity of occupiers of adjacent land or the community. 
 
Issues 
 
Having regard to the above, the main issue concerns whether the 
increase in the number of students and amendment to opening hours 
would be acceptable in terms of the impact upon residential amenity. 
 
The applicant’s agent has submitted the following statement in support 
of his application:  
 
“Since the date of the decision the applicant has reduced the level of his 
activities at a considerable and unsustainable cost to his livelihood. This 
application therefore seeks a modest increase in the number of 
students without affecting the amenity of the neighbours. The applicant 
seeks a gross reduction of 7.5 hours per week and an increase in 
students by 2 per day. It is considered that this will have no detrimental 
effect on the amenity of the neighbours” 
 
Assessment: 
 
From the appeal decision notice and Officer’s report on the Certificate 
of Lawfulness application, attached at Appendices A & B respectively, it 
will be noted that this has been a complex matter which has taken some 
time, and been the subject of much deliberation. This culminated in a 
decision by an independent Planning Inspector as recently as four 
months ago, at which time he carefully considered the impacts of the 
use, and concluded upon an acceptable number of students and hours 
of operation, these being imposed by the conditions forming part of this 
application. 
 

Page 24

https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=87


Since the date of the appeal, there has been no material change in site 
or Policy circumstances. Within this context, the assessment below 
addresses the two separate elements proposed, namely the change in 
hours and then the number of students, and assess whether the 
proposed changes would be acceptable in terms of residential amenity.  
 
Change of Hours 
 
In relation to the increase of hours, whilst it is acknowledged the 
applicants intent to reduce of the hours of operation in the morning, the 
main reason for the condition is to ensure lessons are taught within a 
sociable timeframe to limit disturbance to neighbouring residents.   
 
During the appeal the applicant requested the inspector to consider a 
weekday finish of 21.00 hours (see paras 15 of appeal decision) but 
concluded (at para 17) that while “…the appellant proposes a later start 
for the prospective music lessons at 10.00 hours and a later weekday 
finish of 21.00 hours… the Council’s suggested operating hours .. 
represent a balanced and sociable period within which any lessons 
should take place. Indeed, in light of the concerns outlined above, I 
consider a 20.00 hour restriction on a weekday to be an absolute 
necessity if the levels of harm are to be mitigated to an acceptable 
level”. (emphasis added) 
 
In light of these conclusions, as recently as four months ago, it is 
considered that there are no reasonable grounds to reach any alternate 
conclusion on the proposed increase of hours to 20.30 on Mondays – 
Wednesdays, and that the affected residents have every expectation 
that these hours should be adhered to. 
 
Increase in students 
 
The previous inspector considered the intensity and times of operation 
of the use, the comings and goings associated with the music lessons, 
as well as the noise generated from the lessons themselves, could have 
potential to cause material harm to the living conditions of the occupiers 
of neighbouring properties. Indeed, such matters were considered to be 
of particular concern given the small and intimate character of the 
residential cul-de-sac.  
 
The planning inspector agreed with the LPA that the use could be 
acceptable subject to restrictions on the number of students. During the 
appeal the applicant requested 10 students per day, however the 

Page 25



inspector concluded (at para 16) that “having regard to the levels of 
noise and general disturbance that should reasonably be expected at 
such a modest residential cul-de-sac, I consider that the restrictions set 
by the Council in respect of the numbers of students to represent a 
pragmatic and proportionate approach relative to the concerns 
raised”. (emphasis added) 
 
The restrictions set by the Council in respect of the numbers of students 
was 6, and in reaching this conclusion he specifically considered that 
the impacts associated with 6 students per day would be materially 
different to the 10 students per day proposed by the appellant at that 
time.  While the applicant now wishes 8 students per day, it is still 
considered that 8 students per day would result in some 16 comings 
and goings over the course of a typical weekday which, in addition to 
the movements associated with the residential use of the property, 
would be excessive given the local context.  
 
Objectors have also provided evidence which appears to indicate that 
the applicant is still regularly having over 6 students per day and they 
continue to complain to the LPA in relation to the unacceptable impact it 
having upon them. As such it is considered that the number of students 
should remain at six, for the reasons stated by the appointed 
independent Inspector. 
 
Potential for Temporary Increase in Hours / Students Numbers 
 
During the course of the application, Officers met with the applicant and 
his agent to discuss the severity of breaching the conditions set, with 
the applicant making clear that the effects of the appeal decision had 
been financially significant, with the purpose of the application being to 
increase turnover without increasing effects on neighbours. 
 
It was subsequently advised that, due to changing personal 
circumstances combined with the permitted level of activity at the site, 
the applicant proposes to purchase a property with a view to relocating 
his business. It is stated that this will need a significant financial 
investment, with the current consent limiting the ability to raise revenue. 
Accordingly, it has been requested that consideration is given to the 
issue of a temporary variation of the consent for a period of between 3 
and 6 months to assist in the relocation of the business.  
 
 

Page 26



Having considered this request as part of this assessment, and while 
noting the support of Councillor Dudley to such a temporary permission, 
it is noted that the LPA welcomes the applicant’s intention to find a 
business premises to operate from, which following relocation should 
resolve the ongoing issues at Rowan Tree Close. Nevertheless, it is 
considered that given the length of time objectors and residents have 
had to tolerate this unacceptable level impact, (which to date is 
approximately 30 months from the date of the first complaint), that it 
would be unreasonable for the LPA in this instance to formally allow any 
increase in number of students or hours, even for a temporary period. 
 
For this reason, it is concluded that the proposed change to number of 
students and hours of operation should be refused, and at the same 
time the applicant’s attention drawn to the essential need for him to 
work within the restrictive conditions set by the Inspector, while actively 
seeking to relocate his business. 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
Having regard to the assessment and conclusions within the 
independent appeal Inspector’s decision letter dated 5th October 2016, 
it is considered that the proposed increase in number of students and 
increase in hours later into the evening (within unsociable hours), by 
reason of the number of students, hours of lessons, and associated 
movements of people coming and going within a small residential cul-
de-sac of three dwellings, would have an unacceptable impact upon 
residential amenity, contrary to the objectives of Policy BE1 of the Local 
Development Plan. 
 
RECOMMENDATION :  Refusal 
 
(1) Having regard to the assessment and conclusions within the 

independent appeal Inspector’s decision letter dated 5th October 
2016, it is considered that the proposed increase in number of 
students and increase in hours later into the evening (within 
unsociable hours), by reason of the number of students, hours of 
lessons, and associated movements of people coming and going 
within a small residential cul-de-sac of three dwellings, would 
have an unacceptable impact upon residential amenity, contrary 
to the objectives of Policy BE1 of the Local Development Plan. 

Page 27



  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Penderfyniad ar yr Apêl Appeal Decision 

Ymweliad â safle a wnaed ar 16/08/16 Site visit made on 16/08/16 

gan Richard E. Jenkins  BA (Hons) MSc 

MRTPI 

by Richard E. Jenkins  BA (Hons) MSc 

MRTPI 

Arolygydd a benodir gan Weinidogion Cymru an Inspector appointed by the Welsh Ministers 

Dyddiad: 05.10.16 Date: 05.10.16 

 

Appeal A - Ref: APP/Y6930/C/16/3150026 

Site address: 26 Rowan Tree Close, Bryncoch, Neath, SA10 7SJ 

The Welsh Ministers have transferred the authority to decide this appeal to me as the 

appointed Inspector. 

 The appeal is made under section 174 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended 

by the Planning and Compensation Act 1991. 

 The appeal is made by Mr Ashley David Rees against an enforcement notice issued by Neath 

Port Talbot County Borough Council. 

 The Council's reference is E2014/0233. 

 The notice was issued on 4 April 2016.  

 The breach of planning control as alleged in the notice is without planning permission, the 

change of use from a residential dwelling (Class C3) to a mixed use of residential dwelling 

(Class C3) and commercial use for the provision of music lessons (Sui Generis). 

 The requirements of the notice are: “You are required to cease using the property for the 

provision of music lessons other than in accordance with the following: 1) That a maximum of 6 

students will be taught at the property each day; 2) That no students shall remain on the 

property or be taught outside the following hours - Monday to Friday 09.00 to 20.00, Saturday 

09.00 to 15.00, and Sundays and Bank Holidays No lessons; 3) That the provision of music 

lessons shall be conducted only by the owner of the property, with no other persons employed 

at the property in connection with the use, and that there shall be no other business use 

operating from the property”. 

 The period for compliance with the requirements is two months beginning with the day on 

which the notice takes effect. 

 The appeal is proceeding on the grounds set out in section 174(2)(a), (e) and (f) of the Town 

and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended.  
 

 

Appeal B - Ref: APP/Y6930/C/16/3150027 
Site address: 26 Rowan Tree Close, Bryncoch, Neath, SA10 7SJ 

The Welsh Ministers have transferred the authority to decide this appeal to me as the 

appointed Inspector. 

 The appeal is made under section 174 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended 

by the Planning and Compensation Act 1991. 

 The appeal is made by Ms Milena Anna Willmann against an enforcement notice issued by Neath 

Port Talbot County Borough Council. 

 The Council's reference is E2014/0233. 

 The notice was issued on 4 April 2016.  

 The breach of planning control as alleged in the notice is without planning permission, the 

change of use from a residential dwelling (Class C3) to a mixed use of residential dwelling 

(Class C3) and commercial use for the provision of music lessons (Sui Generis). 

 

Page 28

de460
Typewritten Text
Appendix A



Appeal Decision APP/Y6930/C/16/3150026 & 3150027 

 

  

    2 

 

 The requirements of the notice are: “You are required to cease using the property for the 

provision of music lessons other than in accordance with the following: 1) That a maximum of 6 

students will be taught at the property each day; 2) That no students shall remain on the 

property or be taught outside the following hours - Monday to Friday 09.00 to 20.00, Saturday 

09.00 to 15.00, and Sundays and Bank Holidays No lessons; 3) That the provision of music 

lessons shall be conducted only by the owner of the property, with no other persons employed 

at the property in connection with the use, and that there shall be no other business use 

operating from the property”. 

 The period for compliance with the requirements is two months beginning with the day on 

which the notice takes effect. 

 The appeal is proceeding on the grounds set out in section 174(2)(e) and (f) of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990 as amended.   
 

 

Decision 

1. The appeals fail insofar as they relate to ground (e).  Nevertheless, the appeal under 
ground (a) is allowed, the enforcement notice quashed and planning permission 
granted on the application deemed to have been made under section 177(5) of the 

1990 Act, as amended, for the change of use from a residential dwelling (Class C3) to 
a mixed use of residential dwelling (Class C3) and commercial use for the provision of 

music lessons (Sui Generis) at 26 Rowan Tree Close, Bryncoch, Neath, SA10 7SJ, 
subject to the following conditions: 

1) No more than 6 students shall be taught on site each day. 

2) No music lessons are permitted on the premises on Sundays, Bank Holidays or 
outside of the hours of 09.00 to 20.00 Monday to Friday and 09.00 to 15.00 on 

Saturdays.   

3) The provision of music lessons shall only be conducted by the owner/ occupier 
of the property, with no other persons employed at the property in connection 

with the use hereby approved. 

4) The music lessons hereby permitted shall relate to the provision of guitar 

lessons only. 

Procedural Matters 

2. Two appeals have been lodged in relation to the enforcement proceedings at       
No.26 Rowan Tree Close in Neath.  However, whilst the appellant has submitted in 
correspondence with the Planning Inspectorate that the appeals relate to differing 

enforcement notices, it is clear that each notice incorporates the same reference 
number.  It is also clear that the text of the two notices is identical.  I recognise that 

the plans attached to the notice vary.  However, it appears to me that this is a result 
of an administrative issue as opposed to a material difference between the land 
affected by the notice.  As such, for the purposes of determining these appeals, I 

consider that both appeals relate to the same enforcement notice. 

3. Where a notice is served upon more than one party and more than one appeal follows, 

only one of the appellants needs to pay the prescribed fee to trigger the planning 
application deemed to have been made under section 177(5) of the Act.   Since the 
prescribed fees were paid within the specified period in relation to Appeal A, the 

deemed application falls to be considered. To avoid duplication, I shall deal with both 
Appeal A and Appeal B in this single document. 

Page 29



Appeal Decision APP/Y6930/C/16/3150026 & 3150027 

 

  

    3 

 

Application for costs 

4. Applications for costs have been made by Mr Ashley David Rees and Ms Milena Anna 

Willmann against Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council. These applications are 
the subject of a separate Decision. 

Reasons 

 Ground (e)  

5. An appeal under ground (e) is that copies of the notice were not served as required by 

section 172 of the aforementioned Act.  The reasons for appealing under this ground 
are two pronged in this case.  Firstly, the grounds of appeal state that, having regard 

to Burdle v Sec State (1972) 3 All ER 240, the Council have not correctly identified the 
planning unit or land affected by the notice by failing to include within the plan 
attached to the notice the shared access to the site.  Secondly, it has been submitted 

that the enforcement notices received by the appellants differ in respect of the 
attached plans, with particular reference to that received by Ms Willmann (Appeal B) 

which is considered illegible.  In this respect, reference has been made to the tests set 
out in Miller-Mead v Minister of Housing and local Government 1963 2 QB 196. 

6. With regards the issue of the site access, it is important to note that the shared access 

comprises a private road that also serves two other dwellings, namely No.24 and 
No.28 Rowan Tree Close.  The appellants consider this access road to be both 

physically and functionally connected to the appeal site and that it should, therefore, 
have been identified as part of the appeal site on the plan attached to the 
enforcement notice.  Furthermore, as the shared access road is owned by the 

occupiers of neighbouring dwellings, the appellants submit that the Council has not 
served notice on all of the owners, occupiers or other persons with an interest in the 

land.  Whilst the appellant accepts that there are powers available to correct or vary a 
notice under section 176(1) of the aforementioned Act, it is submitted that such a 
practice cannot be implemented in this case as it would be prejudicial to the appellant 

and other interested parties.  As such, it is contended that the enforcement notice is 
defective on its face and a nullity.  

7. In this respect, whilst the shared access road does provide for the sole vehicular 
access to the appeal premises, the breach of planning control quite clearly relates to 
the music lessons being offered specifically at No.26.  Indeed, the plan accompanying 

the enforcement notice is consistent with the registered title at the property.  As such, 
for the purposes of determining these appeals, I am satisfied that the Council has 

correctly identified the site.  Furthermore, I have found nothing to indicate that the 
approach advocated conflicts with the principles established in the Burdle or Miller-
Mead cases referred by the appellant. 

8. It has also been contested that the plan attached to the notice received by              
Ms Willmann is illegible and does not fairly tell her what land is affected by the notice.  

It is therefore submitted that she cannot reasonably remedy the breach and that the 
notice is a nullity.  In this respect, whilst I accept that the copy of the plan referred to 

does appear to be faded, it is important to note that there is no formal requirement 
for an enforcement notice to include a plan.  Indeed, Regulation 3(c) of the Town and 
Country Planning (Enforcement Notices and Appeals) (Wales) Regulations 2003 states 

that an enforcement notice must specify the precise boundaries of the land to which it 
relates, whether by reference to a plan or otherwise.  In this case, the postal address 

is clearly provided within the notice and the same address is also included on the key 

Page 30



Appeal Decision APP/Y6930/C/16/3150026 & 3150027 

 

  

    4 

 

to the plan.  That is sufficiently clear and all of the evidence indicates that the 
recipients of the notice have understood what is being attacked and to which premises 

the unlawful activity relates.   

9. Notwithstanding such matters, section 176(5) of the Act states that incorrect service 

of an enforcement notice may be disregarded where there has not been substantial 
prejudice.  In this case, the appellants have lodged appeals against the enforcement 
notice and managed to contest it fully through the course of proceedings.  It cannot, 

therefore, be said that they have suffered any prejudice.  Likewise, given the nature of 
the breach and the requirements of the notice, I am satisfied that the other persons 

with an interest in the shared access road have not been prejudiced by the procedures 
undertaken to date.  Indeed, Nos.24 and 28 have been provided with copies of the 
enforcement notice and have been fully informed of the appeals.   

10. For these reasons, I conclude that the appeals under ground (e) should fail. 

 Ground (a)  

11. The appeal under ground (a) is that planning permission ought to be granted in 
respect of the breach of planning control which may be constituted by the matters 
alleged in the notice.  As such, planning permission is sought for the change of use 

from a residential dwelling (Class C3) to a mixed use of residential dwelling and 
commercial use for the provision of music lessons (Sui Generis).  The Council objects 

to the proposed change of use on the basis that the comings and goings associated 
with the sui generis use would have an unacceptable and unreasonable impact of the 
living conditions of the occupiers of neighbouring properties.  Such concerns are 

corroborated by those representations submitted by neighbouring occupiers, with 
further objections relating to alleged loss of privacy and concerns for highway safety. 

12. It was clear at the time of my site visit that, having regard to the geometry of the 
road and other highway matters such as visibility, the concerns relating to highway 
safety are not well founded.  Likewise, whilst concerns have been raised in relation to 

parking practices, the appeal site offers off street parking and, even if that is not 
available, the main highway along Rowan Tree Close offers ample opportunity for safe 

and lawful on-street parking only a short distance from the site.  

13. Moreover, whilst it is inevitable that the offer of music lessons would see students 
entering and exiting the premises via the shared access, I do not consider that such a 

situation would result in any material harm to the levels of privacy at neighbouring 
properties.  Indeed, the windows of the neighbouring properties that front the access 

road are largely set back from the highway and, in any event, such views would be 
short and fleeting and would have the same impact as those associated with the 
residential use of the property.  Likewise, whilst the offer of music lessons would take 

place in a first floor room located to the rear of the property, any issues of overlooking 
from that room would not be any more significant than those associated with the 

lawful use.  

14. Nevertheless, depending on the intensity and times of operation of the sui generis 

use, the comings and goings associated with the music lessons, as well as the noise 
generated from the lessons themselves, could have potential to cause material harm 
to the living conditions of the occupiers of neighbouring properties.  Indeed, such 

matters are of particular concern in this case given the small and intimate character of 
the residential cul-de-sac within which the appeal site is located.  However, whilst 

there remains some confusion over the reasons for issuing the enforcement notice, 

Page 31



Appeal Decision APP/Y6930/C/16/3150026 & 3150027 

 

  

    5 

 

specifically whether the requirements of the notice would remedy the breach or 
prevent injury to amenity, it is clear that both the Council and the appellant consider 

that there is a level of intensity at which the proposed use could be undertaken 
without material harm.  Having undertaken a detailed site visit and considered all of 

the evidence available to me, including that submitted by interested parties, I have no 
reason to dispute such conclusions.  

15. As set out in the requirements of the enforcement notice, the Council consider that the 

impacts of the use would be acceptable if, amongst other things, the number of 
students were restricted to a maximum of 6 per day and the hours of operation 

restricted to between 09.00 and 20.00 hours Monday to Friday and 09.00 and 15.00 
hours on Saturdays, with no lessons offered on Sundays and Bank Holidays.  In 
contrast, whilst the appellants are happy to agree to no lessons on Sundays or Bank 

Holidays, they wish to be able to operate the business use between 10.00 and 21.00 
hours Monday and Friday and 10.00 and 15.00 hours on Saturdays.  The appellants 

also seek to be able to teach up to 10 students per day. 

16. Within this context, and having regard to the levels of noise and general disturbance 
that should reasonably be expected at such a modest residential cul-de-sac, I consider 

that the restrictions set by the Council in respect of the numbers of students to 
represent a pragmatic and proportionate approach relative to the concerns raised.  

Specifically, I consider that the impacts associated with 6 students per day within the 
hours specified by the Council would be materially different to the 10 students per day 
proposed by the appellant.  Indeed, the latter could result in some 20 comings and 

goings over the course of a typical weekday which, in addition to the movements 
associated with the residential use of the property, would be excessive given the local 

context. I recognise that the appellant is seeking to limit the numbers of vehicles 
accessing the site.  However, the condition proposed would be extremely difficult, if 
not impossible, to enforce and, for this reason, I consider that it fails the tests set out 

in Welsh Government Circular 16/2014: ‘The Use of Planning Conditions for 
Development Management Purposes’.   

17. I acknowledge that the appellant proposes a later start for the prospective music 
lessons at 10.00 hours and a later weekday finish of 21.00 hours.  However, I 
consider the Council’s suggested operating hours to represent a balanced and sociable 

period within which any lessons should take place.  Indeed, in light of the concerns 
outlined above, I consider a 20.00 hour restriction on a weekday to be an absolute 

necessity if the levels of harm are to be mitigated to an acceptable level.  In addition, 
as proposed by the Council and the appellant, I consider that a condition is necessary 
to ensure that the lessons are only offered by the owner or occupier of the property 

and that no other persons are employed at the premises.  Likewise, I have imposed a 
condition restricting the music lessons to the provision of guitar lessons only.  These 

controls would assist in ensuring that the change of use at the property would not 
cause material harm to the living conditions of neighbouring occupiers. 

18. I recognise that the requirements of the enforcement notice seek to prevent any other 
business uses from operating at the property.  However, this clearly goes beyond 
remedying the breach of planning control.  Indeed, an additional business use could 

be operated at a level that is incidental to the primary use of the property and would 
not, therefore, require planning permission.  Likewise, it is possible that a potential 

business use could be acceptable in planning terms, regardless of the concerns set out 
above.  As such, I do not consider that it is appropriate for this requirement to be 
transposed as a condition of the planning permission granted in this case.   

Page 32



Appeal Decision APP/Y6930/C/16/3150026 & 3150027 

 

  

    6 

 

19. I have considered all other matters raised, including those submitted by interested 
parties.  Specifically, reference has been made to legal covenants on the land.  

However, such matters are clearly severable from planning processes and would need 
to be considered under the respective legislation.  In addition, I do not consider that 

concerns relating to health and safety merit substantial weight in this case, whilst 
potential damage to property is clearly a civil matter.  Furthermore, concerns for the 
wear and tear of the shared access road and any increase in electricity costs triggered 

by security lighting do not warrant the refusal of planning permission.  

20. I have fully considered the comments made within the context of the Human Rights 

Act and in particular Protocol 1, Article 1 which states that a person has the right to 
the peaceful enjoyment of all their possessions which include the home.  I have also 
considered the provisions of Article 8 of the Human Rights Act.  However, I do not 

consider such concerns to be well founded because, for the aforementioned reasons, I 
do not consider that the use would cause material harm to the living conditions of the 

occupiers of neighbouring properties, provided that the intensity of the use is 
appropriately controlled by means of planning condition.  Accordingly, there would be 
no violation of the neighbouring occupiers’ human rights. 

21. I have only imposed conditions where I consider that they meet the tests set out in 
Circular 16/2014 and have, in the interests of clarity and precision, adjusted the 

wording of the suggested conditions where necessary.  Given that it is common 
ground that the breach of planning control alleged in the notice has already taken 
place, I do not consider the standard time commencement condition to be necessary.   

Likewise, the suggested condition preventing lessons from taking place outside of the 
property has not been raised as a particular issue and I see no reason to impose it.   

22. I acknowledge that the planning permission granted allows for little more than what 
would have been the case if I was to uphold the enforcement notice with variations.  
However, having considered all the options available to me, it would appear that the 

grant of planning permission offers a more favourable approach to all parties 
concerned.  Indeed, it provides certainty in terms of the intensity of use permitted, 

whilst also providing sufficient flexibility to enable an application under section 73 of 
the Act to be considered on its merits should it be considered pertinent to do so.  
Moreover, the option of serving a breach of condition notice remains open to the 

Council should it be found that the terms of the planning permission are not complied 
with.  

23. On this basis, I conclude that, subject to the conditions imposed, the appeal under 
ground (a) should succeed.  

 The Appeals under Ground (f)  

24. In light of my conclusion that the appeal should succeed on ground (a), the 
enforcement notice is quashed.  As such, the appeals under ground (f) do not fall to 

be considered. 

Richard E. Jenkins 

INSPECTOR 

Page 33



Appendix B 
 

Officer Report 
 

Application Reference: P2015/0495 
 

 
1 Brief Description of Proposal: 
 
This application is for a Certificate of Lawful Existing Use or Development (CLEUD) 
for an existing residential dwellinghouse to be used for music lessons. 
 
The application has been accompanied by a supporting letter from an agent which 
indicates that the use operates as follows: - 
 
The hours of operation comprise: - 
 

• Monday 15.30 to 20.00 (4 ½ hours) 
• Tuesday 15.30 to 20.00 (4 ½ hours) 
• Wednesday 15.30 to 21.00 (5 ½ hours) 
• Thursday 15.30 to 20.00 (4 ½ hours) 
• Friday 16.00 to 19.00 (3 hours) 
• Saturday 12.00 to 15.00 (3 hours) 
• Sunday No Lessons  

 
Maximum hours in a week are 25 ½ (although it is noted that the above hours add up 
to 25 hours) 
 
The supporting evidence also states that: -  
 

• The property is still to be used mainly as a private residence 
• There will be no external alterations to the property 
• There will be no external advertising signs 
• Only one small room will be used for the lessons 
• Only one pupil will be taught at the premises at any one time 
• An average of 2 vehicles call at the property each day 
• There is adequate off-street parking on the forecourt 
• Lessons are by appointment only and those students arriving by car are 

staggered to ensure that only one vehicle is parked on the forecourt at any 
one time 

• A maximum of 8 students on foot call at the property each day (albeit see 
assessment below in respect of numbers) 

 
 
The applicant advises that, following a meeting with the Planning Department on the 
12th March 2015 the applicant has ceased all Sunday lessons, in addition to this he 
has stopped taking on additional students, and replacement students are now 
offered 1 hour lessons to reduce footfall in the cul-de-sac. 
  

Page 34



 
2 Planning History: 
 
Although not relevant to this application, the planning history for the property is as 
follows: - 
 
95/0484 Erection of 85 No. two storey dwellings with 

garages, landscaping and associated works. 
Approved 01/04/96 

14/0076 Works to Oak Tree covered by Tree Preservation 
Order comprising 15% Crown Lift plus 3m 
reduction in branches overhanging garden of No. 
68. 

withdrawn 24/02/14 

 
3 Publicity and Responses (if applicable): 
 
In response to this application, a petition of support signed by 7 people and 3 letters 
of objection have been received from the occupants of nearby residential dwellings, 
which are summarised under 3 main categories as follows: 
 
(1) Loss of Privacy 

 
a. The application site is located across from the objector’s property and 

there has been an invasion of privacy, such as being watched in the front 
garden and looking into their living room window. 

b. Threats from people visiting  the application site when the objector 
advised them of driving over their lawn in the driveway of the application 
site  

c. False allegations being made to the police about the objector in relation 
to offensive hand gestures and swearing being made to people visiting 
the property which was made by the applicant.  

d. The proposed development contravenes Protocol 1 Article 1 of the 
Human Rights Act which states that a person has the right to enjoy 
peaceful enjoyment of all their possessions which includes their home 
and other land. 

e. The objector has had to install CCTV to protect them from false and 
malicious allegations being made to the police. 

f. The proposed development contravenes Article 8 of the Human rights Act 
which states that a person had the right to respect for their substantive 
family life. 

g. The objector being watched in their front garden by people in cars or 
waiting outside house making the objector nervous as they have 
experienced menacing and intimidating attitude from the clients.  

h. The applicant website advices lessons can be given in small groups, 
resulting in more than one person at a time which would create more 
people waiting for lessons to commence and finish. 

i. Feeling intimidated when at home on own in the evening with strangers 
either standing or parked in their vehicles , outside my front window. 

 
(2) Disturbance and Noise 

a. The property is located in a residential cul de sac consisting of 3 
properties the proposed development results in a noise and disturbance 
issue detrimental to the neighbouring residential amenity  

Page 35



b. Increased noise and disturbance from people back and forth either in 
cars or by foot, there have been approximately 1800 people and 426 cars 
since 8th may 2014  

c. There have been occasions when 2 cars a day attend the proposed 
development. 

d. There have been occasions that the same car has dropped 2 children off 
separately resulting in the same car coming and going 4 times within 1 
hour. 

e. Parents of children standing on driveway waiting for children reading 
paper or talking loudly, also endured parents playing loud music in their 
car, with engine running with lights shining into living room window. 
Website advertises business hours between 9am and 9pm seven days a 
week meaning a client can start a lesson at 9pm meaning they could 
leave at 10 causing a noise and disturbance.  

f. The objector’s electricity bill has increased due to the security light at the 
front of the property being triggered more often. This also results in more 
wear and tear with the light on and off every half hour. As there are no 
street lights ion the cul-de-sac the objector thinks It’s unfair that they for 
this facility that benefits the proposed objector. 

g. The activity log provided by the objector shows the hours of operation 
each week to vary which on average would be 25 and half hours each 
week.  

h. Disturbance from electric guitar lessons especially in the summer months 
when sitting in the garden. 

 
(3) Driveway and Stability 

a. The proposed development is situated on a shared un-adopted highway 
consisting of only 3 residential properties. Each householder would be 
required to contribute equally to maintain and repair. With traffic increase 
from the proposed development surely the applicant would need to pay 
more towards these costs 

b. As the driveway is adopted each residential property will be liable for 
prosecution should any of the proposed development clients injure 
themselves. Why should residents have to take out indemnity insurance 
to pre-empt this.  

c. Vehicles parking outside of No 30 causing a hindrance and making it 
awkward to gain access to their driveway 

d. Damage to property on numerous occasions with people driving over the 
edge of the front garden. 

e. Numerous occasions when the shared drive serving the three properties 
is blocked by the applicants clients, this is further exacerbated when they 
have family visitors. 
 

(4) Other 
a. All properties within the Redrow estate are subject to a covenant in the 

deeds which prohibit the use for business purposes. 
b. Discrepancies in the CLOUD in relation to 1 hour and half hour lessons. 

The applicant’s web site specifically offers half hour lesson for children. 
 

While it is emphasised that in an application for a Certificate of Lawfulness of 
Existing Use or Development (CLEUD) planning merits of a proposal are not to be 
assessed, the assessment which follows has had regard to the views expressed by 
the nearby residential properties in coming to a conclusion on the facts of the case.  

Page 36



 
4 Description of Site and its Surroundings: 
 
The application site comprises a detached dwelling located at 26 Rowan Tree Close, 
Neath.  The dwelling is accessed via a private drive serving two other dwellings (as 
shown on the aerial photograph below). 
 

 
 
Policy Context: 
 
Planning Policies are not relevant to applications under Section 191 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) 
 
Material Considerations: 
 
This application seeks a Lawful Development Certificate under Section 191 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 which seeks to certify the lawfulness of 
existing operations on or use of land.  The determination of the application is on legal 
grounds only, accordingly any views on the planning merits of the case, or on 
whether the applicant has any private rights to carry out the operation, use or activity 
in question, are irrelevant. 
 
Accordingly, this report concentrates solely on whether, based on the facts of the 
case, the specified matter is or would be lawful. 
 
Having regard to the above, the main issues for consideration with this application 
relate to whether the extent and nature of use identified within the application would 
be incidental to the main residential use of the existing dwelling, or whether the 
use/development would constitute a material change of use of the property from 
residential into a mixed residential (Class C3) and commercial use (Sui Generis). 
 
Assessment 
 
As stated above, the key issue with this application is whether the proposal would be 
considered incidental to the main residential use of Number 26 Rowan Tree Close, 
or whether the proposal would constitute a material change of use of the property 
from residential to a mixed use of residential and commercial. As there are no clear 
cut planning rules on this type of activity, it would be a matter of ‘fact and degree’ 
based on the information provided as part of the application in the context of the 
application site. 
 

Page 37



Advice from the Planning Portal (the online planning and building regulation resource 
in England and Wales) states that “You do not necessarily need planning permission 
to work from home. The key test is whether the overall character of the dwelling will 
change as a result of the business”.  
 
It further states “Whatever business you carry out from your home, whether it 
involves using part of it as a bed-sit or for 'bed and breakfast' accommodation, using 
a room as your personal office, providing a childminding service, for hairdressing, 
dressmaking or music teaching, or using buildings in the garden for repairing cars or 
storing goods connected with a business - the key test is: is it still mainly a home or 
has it become business premises?”. 
 
Advice contained within ‘Development Control Practice’ (DCP) (an online planning 
resource) states that the “point at which a use departs from being termed ‘incidental’ 
is difficult to determine”. It also states that “whether an activity is for 
hobby/humanitarian purposes or commercial gain is not a determining criterion on its 
own”.  
 
Factors which may assist such a judgement are as follows:  
 

A. Have there been any alterations to the dwelling to facilitate the business? 
B. Will the home no longer be used mainly as a private residence? 
C. Will the business employ other people? 
D. Will the business result in a marked rise in traffic or people calling? 
E. Will the business involve any activities unusual in a residential area? 
F. Will the business disturb neighbours at unreasonable hours or create other 

forms of nuisance such as noise 
G. Any other issues raised as part of this application 

 
These ‘tests’ are considered below, following consideration of previous planning 
appeals cases found on DCP. 
 
Planning Cases (DCP) 
 
As part of the assessment, research using Development Control Practice has 
identified one case in relation to music lessons. 
 
This was a case in Sunderland (02/04/2001) where the continued use of a 
substantial wooden building in a domestic back garden for music lessons was 
sought. At appeal an inspector noted that up to 25 students might use the premises 
on a Saturday. Whilst the building had been soundproofed and well insulated, the 
noise associated with comings and goings was likely to create an unacceptable level 
of disturbance to local residents. The site was unsuitable for such an activity and the 
effects could not be ameliorated satisfactorily through the imposition of conditions. 
This case whilst notably different to the current proposal (both in intensity and the 
fact that this used a detached outbuilding) nevertheless provides a good example of 
when the number of people visiting in a day would not be ancillary to a dwelling.  
 
Further study of the database reveals numerous other cases of a business being run 
from home that didn’t constitute a change of use and were considered to be 
incidental to the enjoyment of the dwelling house, however none were found relating 
directly to music lessons. One such case that was considered acceptable whilst not 
directly comparable was Slough (12/02/2007) where a council's enforcement notice 

Page 38



requiring the cessation of a "mini health farm" at a dwelling in Berkshire was 
quashed after an inspector decided that it was ancillary to the lawful use of the 
premises. The inspector noted that the appellant had advertised the business widely 
in a local newspaper and on the web. However, he decided that the term "mini health 
farm" conveyed an overly elaborate impression of the actual activities that were 
provided on site. He decided that the breach of planning control should be more 
accurately described as comprising a mixed use involving residential and the 
provision of beauty treatment, reflexology, massage and the associated use of a spa 
bath. With this in mind, he noted that attendance at the premises was by 
appointment only and a maximum of two appointments per day was the norm. A 
professional reflexologist attended as required and this was usually one hour per 
week. The appellant had kept a diary of her appointments that supported her 
argument that the number of people visiting the site was limited and did not normally 
exceed more than four per day. It is evident that number of comings and goings are 
a key factor in considering whether a change of use has occurred. 
 
An example of a case where it wasn’t considered acceptable was Kirkcaldy 
(11/03/98) where a beauty therapy use was held not to be ancillary to a dwelling in 
one room of a large house had been used for no more than 5 clients a day, again 
this is not directly comparable as the room had been “kitted out” with a great deal of 
equipment and had clearly been taken out of residential use. However the comings 
and goings of customers, albeit numerically at a low level, distinguished the activity 
from that normally associated with residential use. 
 
The report now considers the ‘tests’ referred to above. 
 
A. Have there been any alterations to the dwelling to facilitate the business? 
 
The applicant has indicated that there would be (have been) no external alterations 
to the property to facilitate the proposed operations, that there will be no external 
advertising on the property, and only one room in the house is used to teach 
students.  
 
It is therefore considered that the use does not significantly alter the character or 
appearance of the surrounding area or dwelling, and it can be said that in this regard 
the use would be incidental to the main residential use of the property. 
 
B. Will the home no longer be used mainly as a private residence? 
 
Music lessons are not an activity which is unusual in a residential area, and there are 
likely to be many homes within Neath Port Talbot which are used for teaching music 
without the need to obtain planning permission.  
 
As stated above the applicant uses a single room within the 3 bedroom detached 
house, which has not been physically modified and remains the private residence of 
the applicant and his family.  
 
It is therefore considered that the remainder of the dwelling is still mainly used as a 
private residence. 
 

Page 39



C. Will the business employ other people? 
 
The applicant (Mr Ashley Rees) has indicated that he operates the business, and 
that he does not employ any other people. Accordingly, there are no additional 
activities associated with the employment of staff which would materially change the 
character or use of the dwelling. 
 
D. Will the business result in a marked rise in traffic or people calling? 
 
Having particular regard to the application submissions and those from nearby 
residential dwellings, it is clear that this is the primary ‘test’ which will determine 
whether or not the nature and scale of the activities associated with the use would be 
of such intensity that they would materially change the character or use of the 
dwelling. 
 
In order to assess this in this case, it is necessary to understand the specific context 
of this property.  In this regard it is important to note that the dwelling is located 
within a small, private residential cul-de-sac serving 3 dwellings, No’s 24, 25 and 26 
Rowan Tree Close.  
 
Given that the application site is within a small cul-de-sac in a residential area, it is 
apparent (notably from the nature of representations received in response to this 
application from the other two neighbouring properties within the cul-de-sac) that any 
increase in footfall or traffic would be more noticeable than if the application site was 
located on a main road. Nevertheless, while this affects the assessment, this does 
not mean that it must automatically be concluded that any such activities caused by 
the amount of people visiting or calling and the rise in traffic, would constitute a 
material change of use.  
 
The application is not specific in respect of the number of students taught at the 
property, although it does state that: - 
 

• An average of 2 vehicles call at the property each day; and 
• A maximum and minimum number of students each day. 

 
Although the submissions state that ‘replacement’ students are offered one hour 
lessons (to reduce footfall), no details are provided of the number of students on any 
one day. With one pupil taught at the premises at any one time, and based on ½ 
hour / one hour lessons, the maximum / minimum number of students can be 
calculated as follows (assuming every teaching ‘slot’ is filled): -  
 
The table below shows the hours of operation and the maximum and minimum 
student taught each day. The applicant has also provided an actual week of booking 
for the w/c 9/11/15. 
  

Page 40



 
Table 1 

  Maximum 

Actual for 
w/c 

Monday 
9/11/15. 

 

Minimum 

Monday 15.30 to 20.00 
(4 ½ hours) 9 7 5 

Tuesday 15.30 to 20.00 
(4 ½ hours) 9 9 5 

Wednesday 15.30 to 21.00 
(5 ½ hours) 11 8 7 

Thursday 15.30 to 20.00 
(4 ½ hours) 9 8 5 

Friday 16.00 to 19.00 
(3 hours) 6 6 3 

Saturday 12.00 to 15.00 
(3 hours) 6 4 3 

Sunday no lessons 0 0 0 

Total per week  50 42 28 

 
The applicant has advised that whilst they book more the actual turn out is lower due 
to cancellations. They have advised that the cancellation rate for the above week 
was 16% which was below the average of 20% for Term Time. The applicant also 
states the cancellation rate for Half Term is on average 30% and the cancellation 
rate for over Christmas/New Year is on average 50%. However no evidence has 
been submitted to prove this. This week shows that the number of people taught is 
nearer the maximum.  
 
The applicant has also stated that they operate for between 3 and 5½ hours a day 
for a maximum of 25 Hours per week (also shown in table 1).  They have also 
indicated that the students are appointment based only and are staggered so that 
only one vehicle calls at the property at a time, and there is sufficient space off street 
parking available.  
 
The appeal cases referred to earlier indicate that businesses can be run from home 
as an incidental use depending on their intensity. The applicant has provided 
evidence to reflect the nature of business at the property.  
 
As part of the application neighboring properties were consulted, and the two 
properties within the cul-de-sac have raised objections.  One objector has provided 
detailed evidence of the ‘comings and goings’ related to the property over a 
substantial period of time, which indicates (amongst other things) that on occasions 
there have been overlaps in appointments resulting in two cars or two people there 
at the same time. The reason for this is not clear whether it was an error on the 
applicant’s side of the student turned up early. It is also noted that there are 
occasions when there have been greater number of visitors in a day than those 
shown in table 1. Again it is not clear why this has happened on a few occasions 
however it is acknowledged that the applicant has tried to reduce the number of 
comings and goings prior to the submission of this application after meeting with the 
Local Authority by offering 1hr lessons. However ½ hour lessons are still advertised 
on their web and students are still taught in half hour sessions, this was also noted 
by one of the neighbours. 

Page 41



 
Nevertheless the number of students observed visiting by the neighbour illustrates 
that the number of students visiting the property is at or around the maximum on 
most days. In addition to this the number of visitors is further exacerbated due to the 
application site being positioned in a small cul-de-sac consisting of 3 dwellings which 
would have been subject to very little traffic in the past. Nevertheless an increase in 
traffic and foot fall is not a definite indicator that a change of use has occurred.  The 
amount of traffic and foot fall needs to be carefully assessed. 
 
A further submission was submitted by the same neighbour which only looked at the 
comings and goings outside of the hours indicated by the applicant. These are 
personal recordings by the neighbour when they are at the property, therefore may 
have been occasions that were missed (and clearly cannot be corroborated by the 
Council). These observations were taken from the 5th of November to the 25th of 
January. The evidence indicates that 35 students visited the property outside of the 
times indicated by the applicant. It also illustrates that the same vehicles are 
repeatedly observed arriving outside of the times indicated by the applicant, which 
would suggest that the appointments are being arranged at these times and not just 
a one off occurrence. Taking the neighbours submission as being accurate this 
would indicate the times of operation being as follows: 
 
Table 2 

 Applicant’s statement 

Neighbours 
observations 
between 5th 

November 2015 
to 25th January 

2016 

Increase to what 
has been stated 

Monday 15.30 to 20.00 
(4 ½ hours) 

11.00 to 20.00 
(9 hours) 4 ½ hours 

Tuesday 15.30 to 20.00 
(4 ½ hours) 

14.00 to 20.00 
(6 hours) 1 ½ hours 

Wednesday 15.30 to 21.00 
(5 ½ hours) 

11.30 to 21.00 
(9 ½ hours) 4 hours 

Thursday 15.30 to 20.00 
(4 ½ hours) 

11.00 to 20.00 
(9 hours) 4 ½ hours 

Friday 16.00 to 19.00 
(3 hours) 

11.00 to 19.00 
(8 hours) 5 

Saturday 12.00 to 15.00 
(3 hours) 

10.30 to 15.00 
(5 ½  hours) 2 ½ hours 

Sunday no lessons 0 0 

Total Hours 
Per week 25 Hours 47 Hours 22 hours 

 
 
The neighbour’s submission suggests that the applicant frequently provides lessons 
outside of the time specified in table 1. If this was a regular occurrence as the 
submission suggests the hours of operation could be significantly increased, going 
from 25 hours per week to 47 hours per week, increasing the average day by 
approximately 4 hour.  
 

Page 42



Whilst not a comparable use, it should be noted that case law has established that 
child minding can operate from a dwelling for up to 6 children without the need for 
planning permission for a change of use. For example a child care facility at this 
property would be able to provide care for 6 children including the applicants own 
children. This could result in numerous vehicles movements and people coming and 
going each day. Whilst the vehicle movements and coming and goings would be 
different and concentrate in the morning and evening, it clearly illustrates the level of 
activity and noise that is considered to be appropriate within a residential area. 
 
The appeal cases earlier suggest that over 5 visitors may be unacceptable, and the 
above case law suggest that caring for 6 children would be acceptable. It would 
therefore be prudent to consider that the coming and going of 6 people a day would 
be acceptable, and that the noise and disturbance associated with this would be 
comparative to a residential use. The applicants and objectors evidence illustrate 
that on average more than 6 people visit the property each day and could be 11 on 
certain days. It is considered that this is over what people living within a residential 
area would expect. This would be further exacerbated in small private cul-de-sac of 3 
properties.  
 
It is therefore considered that the increase in traffic and the intensification of people 
coming and going would be detrimental to the neighbouring properties and would 
indicate that a change of use has occurred based on movements alone.  
 
The appeal cases and case law stated within the report illustrate what’s has been 
considered acceptable and unacceptable within a residential area and supports this 
conclusion.  
 
To conclude the number of people visiting per day is considered excessive in a 
residential area. Therefore the increase would not be considered incidental to the 
main residential use and would alter the character of the property and area to such a 
degree to constitute a material change of use in terms of traffic and comings and 
goings. 
 
E. Will the business involve any activities unusual in a residential area? 
 
Teaching music from home is not considered to be an unusual activity to undertake 
within a residential area. It is even mentioned on the planning portal stated earlier in 
this report. 
 
F. Will the business disturb neighbours at unreasonable hours or create other 

forms of nuisance such as noise? 
 
In relation to potential disturbance at unreasonable hours, the latest the applicant 
has stated they teach is 9pm on a Wednesday, 8pm Monday Tuesday and Thursday 
and 7pm on a Friday. The applicant teaches on a Saturday between 12 and 3. (This 
is shown on table 2) 
 
 
Whilst it is acknowledged that there would be some level of noise from guitar 
lessons, the dwelling is detached and double glazed, and it is therefore highly 
unlikely to have any unacceptable noise generated from the proposal over and 
above what a normal household would produce. One of the neighbours have advised 
that electric guitar lessons are a nuisance in the summer when they sit in their 

Page 43



garden however there have been no complaints made to Environmental Health in 
relation to noise disturbance from the music being played at the property. 
 
In relation to the noise and disturbance generated from people entering/leaving the 
premises and whether this is at an unsociable hour, this has largely been covered 
earlier in this report in respect of traffic movements. However, it is emphasised that 
the property is located in a residential cul-de-sac where at the proposed 
development results in a degree of noise and disturbance related to associated 
activities including people in cars with engines running and music playing, and 
parents standing on the applicant’s driveway talking loudly. Whilst this type of activity 
may be acceptable in a residential area the issues are exacerbated in this case as 
the application site is within a small cul-de-sac. Residents within this area would 
have previously experienced much less activity and noise that a residential house on 
road where there would be through traffic and pedestrians walking by.  
 
The earlier assessment showed that the level of activity has resulted in a change of 
use and would therefore not be incidental to the residential dwelling. In relation to the 
hours of operation, the latest time stated is 9pm. As stated earlier residential areas 
do tend to see less activity in the late evening, a small private cul-de-sac would 
expect an even greater reduction of activity as people would only enter the cul-de-
sac if they had business there.  
 
Within this specific local context, it is considered that such activities should be 
restricted to no later than 8pm (the last student leaving at such time), and as such in 
addition to the number of students and associated movements- which cannot be 
controlled through design or condition - the noise and disturbance created from 
people and vehicles coming and going would be over and above what should be 
expected in a residential area and at a time in the evening when residents should 
expect a greater degree of amenity.  
 
To conclude it is considered that the number of students and associated movements 
of people coming and going would disturb neighbours over and above what would 
normally be expected within a residential area and also at unsociable hours. It is 
therefore considered that the current scale and hours of the use are not incidental to 
the main residential use of the property, and have altered the overall character of the 
property to such a degree to constitute a material change of use.   
 
G. Any Other issues: Will the business have an unacceptable impact in 

relation to privacy 
 
Occupants of neighbouring properties have made a number of objections in relation 
to the loss of privacy from the proposed operation, largely due to the close 
relationship between the application property and its neighbours. 
 
These include claims that   there has been an invasion of privacy, such as being 
watched in the front garden and people looking into their living room window. Such 
activities relate to people getting to the site and not the guitar lessons. In this 
respect, it has to be acknowledged that a less intensive use of the property for 
lessons could still have an impact on privacy.  However as stated earlier in this 
report the level of comings and goings are considered to be over and above what is 
considered to be acceptable within a residential area.  Accordingly, while such 
impacts cannot be precluded, or neighbours’ concerns completely satisfied, it is 

Page 44



considered that the degree of current activities causes a degree of harm which 
reinforces the conclusions reached above. 
 
In reaching this conclusion, it is noted that any subsequent enforcement will not 
result in the use being stopped, since a reduced level of activity at this location would 
be acceptable.   
 
The planning department has no control on what people do and look at and how they 
behave when in the street; or how they drive and park. It should be acknowledged 
that people visiting a property may have an impact upon privacy to any front facing 
windows and front gardens. Furthermore fronts of residential properties are not 
considered to be a private amenity area and would be subject to overlooking from 
people within the street.   
 
The following responses are made to the objection raised that has not been 
addressed within the above report.  
 
In relation to the proposal contravening Protocol 1 Article 1 and article 8 of the 
Human Rights Act; the application is for a Certificate of Lawfulness for an 
existing use which is to ascertain if planning permission is required. If a 
planning application is made in the future then the Local Planning Authority 
(LPA) will fully assess the impacts of the development upon the amenity of 
residents of adjoining properties as part of their assessment. Notwithstanding 
this, the report clearly illustrate the factors that have been assessed as part of 
this application, which include whether the business has result in a marked 
rise in traffic or people calling and whether the business has disturb 
neighbours at unreasonable hours or create other forms of nuisance such as 
noise. The outcome of each assessment helps the LPA in determining whether 
planning permission is required or if the development is lawful. 
 
The objector has had to install CCTV to protect them from false and malicious 
allegations being made to the police. This is not a material planning 
consideration. 
 
The applicant website advices lessons can be given in small groups, resulting in 
more than one person at a time which would create more people waiting for lessons 
to commence and finish. The applicant has not advised that they wish to teach 
groups, and there has been no observations made by the objector that there 
have been small groups. The certificate applied for would be specific to what 
has been carried out which involves no groups. 

 
Website advertises business hours between 9am and 9pm seven days a week 
meaning a client can start a lesson at 9pm meaning they could leave at 10 causing a 
noise and disturbance. The web site advertises that the applicant can be 
contacted via mobile or email during these times as it clearly states this under 
the contact section of the Ashley’s guitar lesson web site 
 
The objector’s electricity bill has increased due to the security light at the front of the 
property being triggered more often. This also results in more wear and tear with the 
light on and off every half hour. As there are no street lights ion the cul-de-sac the 
objector thinks It’s unfair that they for this facility that benefits the proposed objector. 
This is not a material planning consideration and will not be taken into 
consideration as part of this application. 

Page 45



 
The objector has highlighted that the proposed development is situated on a shared 
un-adopted highway consisting of only 3 residential properties and that each 
householder would be required to contribute equally to maintain and repair. Their 
particular concern is with the increase in traffic and would the applicant need 
to pay more because of this and that each residential property will be liable for 
prosecution should any of the proposed development clients injure 
themselves. However, it should be noted that this specific issue would be a 
civil matter between the relevant landowners, and would not be a determining 
factor in this application.  
 
In relation vehicles parking causing a hindrance, damage to property, the shared 
driveway getting blocked, and a covenant prohibiting properties for business 
purposes; these are not a material planning consideration and are private 
matters. 
 
Conclusion: 
 
It is considered that the use, by reason of the number of students, hours of lessons, 
and associated movements of people coming and going within a small residential 
cul-de-sac of three dwellings, has a degree of impact on neighbours over and above 
what would normally be expected within a residential area, including at unsociable 
hours, and accordingly is not considered to be incidental to the main residential use 
of the property and to have altered the overall character of the property to such a 
degree to constitute a material change of use from residential into a mixed 
residential (Class C3) and commercial use (Sui Generis). It is therefore 
recommended not to issue the Lawful Development Certificate for the existing use 
and to take the necessary enforcement action as detailed in the next section. 
 
Recommendation:1 
 
Not to Issue the Lawful Development Certificate for the Existing use on the following 
grounds: - 
 
The use, by reason of the number of students, hours of lessons, and associated 
movements of people coming and going within a small residential cul-de-sac of three 
dwellings, has a degree of impact on neighbours over and above what would 
normally be expected within a residential area, including at unsociable hours, and 
accordingly is not considered to be incidental to the main residential use of the 
property and to have altered the overall character of the property to such a degree to 
constitute a material change of use from residential into a mixed residential (Class 
C3) and commercial use (Sui Generis). 
 
Enforcement Action 

 
Having regard to the assessment above, it has been concluded that the intensity and 
nature of activities undertaken, within this specific context, would amount to a 
material change in the character of the property from a residential use to a mixed 
use of residential and guitar lessons. 

 
This therefore means that planning permission is required for the use. 

 

Page 46



In light of the persistent and strong objections raised by neighbouring properties, in 
respect of the impact of this use on their amenity, it is also necessary to consider the 
expediency of taking formal enforcement action against the use as it currently exists. 

 
In this respect, for the reasons expanded upon in the earlier section of this report, it 
is also concluded that the degree of activity associated with the guitar lessons at this 
particular property, would also have an unacceptable and unreasonable impact on 
the amenity of the neighbouring properties.   

 
Any enforcement action cannot necessarily stop the activities being undertaken at 
the site, and will only be able to reduce them to a degree which it is considered that 
planning permission would not be required.  Nevertheless, while such impacts are 
unlikely to be reduced to a level which would be hoped by the neighbouring 
properties, enforcement action is considered to be warranted so as to reduce the 
intensity of activities to a degree, and at times, where such impacts would become 
acceptable in terms of not materially changing the character of the property. 

 
Having regard to this, the following additional recommendation is made: - 

 
Recommendation 2 

 
That authorisation is granted for the service of an Enforcement Notice to restrict the 
degree of activities at the site associated with guitar lessons to a level which would 
ensure that there is no material change in the character of the use for the property as 
a residential dwelling.  This would require that such activities do not exceed the 
following: -   

 
(1) A maximum of 6 students being taught at the property each day. 

 
(2) That no students are remaining on the property or be taught outside the 

following hours: 
 
• Mon to Friday  09.00 to 20.00    
• Saturdays  09.00 to 15.00     
• No lessons on Sundays or bank holidays.  

 
(3) That the use shall be conducted only by the owner of the property, with no 

other persons employed or present at the property in connection with the use, 
and that there shall be no other business use operating from the property. 

 
 
 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



SECTION B – MATTERS FOR INFORMATION 
 
DELEGATED APPLICATIONS  
DETERMINED BETWEEN 25TH JANUARY 2017 AND  
5TH FEBRUARY 2017 
 

1     App No.  P2016/0663 Type Full Plans  
Proposal Demolition of existing apartment building and 
construction of 4 x 2bed dwellings, 12 x 1 bed apartments, 1 x 1 
bed bungalow including associated  drainage, engineering  
landscaping and highway works. 
Location  Cartref, Burrows Road,  Skewen, Neath SA10 6AB 
Decision      Approved subject to s.106 
Ward           Coedffranc Central 

 

2     App No.  P2016/0834 Type Full Plans  
Proposal Detached split level (up to 3 storey) dwelling plus 
associated car parking and engineering works. 
Location  Plot 1-2, Pen Y Graig Road,  Alltwen, Pontardawe  
SA8 3BS 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Alltwen 

 

3     App No.  P2016/0845 Type Full Plans  
Proposal 2.4m high Fence. 
Location  Land at Seaway Parade,  Baglan, Port Talbot  
SA12 7BR 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Baglan 

 

4     App No.  P2016/0895 Type Full Plans  
Proposal Single storey office administration building and 
associated car park. (Amended elevations and sections, Appendix 
A Flood Consequences Assessment, LEMP Addendum and long 
section of relationship between car park and attenuation pond - 
Received 5-12-16)(Landscape and Ecological Management Plan 
Addendum and Landscape Scheme Rec 23/12/16) 
Location  Margam Green Energy Plant, Longlands Lane,  
Margam, SA13 2SU 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Margam 

 

Page 49

Agenda Item 6



5     App No.  P2016/0957 Type Discharge of Cond.
  

Proposal Submission of detail relating to condition 5 (external 
materials), 6 (structural calculations), 9 (Boundary Treatment),11 
(surface water drainage) of Planning Application P2016/0281 
approved on 31/05/2016. 
Location  Plot 18, Owen Jones Way,  Bryn SA13 2SG 
Decision      Approval with no Conditions 
Ward           Bryn & Cwmavon 

 

6     App No.  P2016/0964 Type Change of Use  
Proposal Change of use from 2 Holiday units, and 1 residential 
dwelling, to 3 residential dwellings (Use Class C3(B)) 
Location  The Farm House, Alltycham Drive,  Pontardawe, 
Swansea SA8 4JR 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Pontardawe 

 

7     App No.  P2016/1029 Type Discharge of Cond.
  

Proposal Details to be agree in association with condition 4 (land 
contamination) of application P2016/0823 granted on 1/11/16. 
Location  Unit 29, Kenfig Industrial Estate,  Margam, Port Talbot 
SA13 2PE 
Decision      Approval with no Conditions 
Ward           Margam 

 

8     App No.  P2016/1041 Type Householder  
Proposal First floor side extension, and conversion of existing 
ground floor garage to provide granny annexe accommodation 
plus demolition of existing store and construction of detached 
garage. 
Location  Blaenhonddan Uchaf Farm, Gilfach Road,  Bryncoch, 
Neath SA10 8AD 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Bryncoch North 

 

9     App No.  P2016/1042 Type Householder  
Proposal Retention of outbuilding plus flue. 
Location  9 Primrose Bank,  Bryncoch, Neath SA10 7BX 
Decision      Approval with no Conditions 
Ward           Bryncoch North 

 

Page 50



10     App No.  P2016/1048 Type Householder  
Proposal Single storey rear extension and replacement double 
garage 
Location  255 Neath Road,  Briton Ferry, Neath SA11 2SL 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Briton Ferry East 

 

11     App No.  P2016/1060 Type Prior 
Notif.Telecoms  

Proposal Prior Notification for the installation of a 15m high 
mono-pole for telecommunications with 4 No. antennas, 2 No. 
dishes and associated equipment cabinets, plus an enclosed 
compound area. 
Location  Hendre Owen Farm, Hendre Owen Road,  Duffryn 
Rhondda, Port Talbot  
Decision      Prior Approval  Not Required 
Ward           Cymmer 

 

12     App No.  P2016/1070 Type Full Plans  
Proposal Installation of foul sewer in association with energy 
plant. (Amendment to application P2014/0835.) 
Location  Margam Green Energy Plant, Longlands Lane,  
Margam, Port Talbot SA13 2SU 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Margam 

 

13     App No.  P2016/1076 Type Householder  
Proposal Conversion of garage into living accommodation and 
replacement parking space within front curtilage 
Location  6 Cae Copor,  Cwmavon, Port Talbot SA12 9BX 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Bryn & Cwmavon 

 

14     App No.  P2016/1078 Type Householder  
Proposal Retention and completion of retaining wall to highway 
frontage. (Amended calculations) 
Location  Galltcwm Farm, Road From Goytre to Bryn,  Bryn, Port 
Talbot SA13 2SH 
Decision      Approval with no Conditions 
Ward           Bryn & Cwmavon 

 

Page 51



15     App No.  P2016/1080 Type Householder  
Proposal Rear and side extensions to dwelling (Additional and 
amended proposals as previously approved under Planning 
Permission P2015/0075) 
Location  Graigfryn, 1 Graig Gellinudd,  Gellinudd Pontardawe, 
Swansea SA8 3HP 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Rhos 

 

16     App No.  P2016/1095 Type Householder  
Proposal Retention and completion of single storey side garage 
extension. 
Location  26 Sycamore Court,  Baglan, Port Talbot SA12 8PY 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Baglan 

 

17     App No.  P2016/1096 Type Discharge of Cond. 
Proposal Details pursuant to the discharge of Condition 7 of 
Planning Permission P2011/0880 relating to the design and 
construction of the pedestrian steps over cliff face. 
Location  Land South of Coed Darcy, Former BP Refinery,  
Llandarcy, Neath  
Decision      Approval with no Conditions 
Ward           Coedffranc West 

 

18     App No.  P2016/1098 Type Full Plans  
Proposal Insertion of 2 No.Windows in North East elevation. 
Location  Llyfrgell Cwmllynfell, Heol Gwilym,  Cwmllynfell, 
Abertawe SA9 2GH 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Cwmllynfell 

 

19     App No.  P2016/1101 Type Non Material 
Amendment (S96A)  

Proposal Non-material amendment to Planning Permission 
P2010/1071 relocate two car parking spaces to behind the 
highway footpath, with associated works to replace retaining wall 
and footpath behind the new parking spaces plus amended 
design/finish for balustrade. 
Location  Hafan Brynheulog, Ffordd Brynheulog,  Pontardawe, 
Swansea SA8 4JW 
Decision      Approval with no Conditions 
Ward           Pontardawe 

 

Page 52



20     App No.  P2016/1107 Type Change of Use  
Proposal Change of use from Retail (Class A1) to Café (Class 
A3) ground floor, with staff facilities and storage at first floor. 
Location  33 Queen Street,  Neath SA11 1DN 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Neath North 

 

21     App No.  P2017/0034 Type LawfulDev.Cert-
Prop.  

Proposal Single storey rear extension - Certificate of Lawful 
development (proposed) 
Location  4 Auburn Avenue,  Sandfields, Port Talbot SA12 7RD 
Decision      Issue Lawful Dev.Cert. 
Ward           Sandfields West 

 

22     App No.  P2017/0045 Type LawfulDev.Cert-
Prop.  

Proposal Single storey rear extension Lawful Development 
Certificate Proposed 
Location  35 Purcell Avenue,  Sandfields, Port Talbot SA12 7TF 
Decision      Issue Lawful Dev.Cert. 
Ward           Sandfields West 

 

23     App No.  P2017/0049 Type Non Material 
Amendment (S96A)  

Proposal Non-material amendment to Planning Permission 
P2016/0383 (Computational Foundry) for 1. Re-location of building 
2.5m to east. 2. safety barriers and ladders to stair roof towers. 3. 
Pond to landscape area. 4. Alteration to fenestration in North 
Elevation. 
Location  Learning & Resource Centre, Fabian Way,  Crymlyn 
Burrows SA1 8EN 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Coedffranc West 

 

24     App No.  P2017/0056 Type Non Material 
Amendment (S96A)  

Proposal Non-material amendment to Planning Permission 
P2016/0888 to raise the cill level of the bathroom window to the 
front elevation. 
Location  34 Gnoll Road,  Godre'r Graig, Swansea SA9 2PA 
Decision      Approval with no Conditions 
Ward           Godre'rgraig 

Page 53



 

25     App No.  P2017/0060 Type LawfulDev.Cert-
Prop.  

Proposal Lawful Development Certificate (Proposed) for a first 
floor rear extension. 
Location  33 Main Road,  Bryncoch, Neath SA10 7PD 
Decision      Approval with no Conditions 
Ward           Bryncoch North 

 

26     App No.  P2017/0070 Type Non Material 
Amendment (S96A)  

Proposal Non-material amendment to Planning Permission 
P2015/0037 (creation of 2 additional units, plus refurb) to alter 
double door to a single door on front elevation. 
Location  Ty Gnoll Newydd, Dyfed Road,  Neath SA11 3BR 
Decision      Approval with no Conditions 
Ward           Neath North 

 

27     App No.  P2017/0091 Type LawfulDev.Cert-
Prop.  

Proposal Lawful Development Certificate for a proposed single 
storey rear extension. 
Location  7 Wellfield Square,  Neath SA11 1YY 
Decision      Issue Lawful Dev.Cert. 
Ward           Neath East 

 

 

 

Page 54



SECTION B – MATTERS FOR INFORMATION 

APPEALS DETERMINED 

a) Planning Appeals 
 
Appeal Ref: A2016/0012    Planning Ref: P2016/0210 
 
PINS Ref: APP/Y6930/A/16/3158780 
 
Applicant: Mr Elliott Jones 
 
Proposal: Retention and completion of detached 

outbuilding 
 
Site Address: 60 Neath Road, Resolven, Neath, SA11 4AH 
 
Appeal Method: Written Representations 
 
Decision Date: 02/02/17  
 
Decision:  Appeal Dismissed  
 
 
The application was refused on the basis that the outbuilding by 
reason of its excessive height, would result in a dominant structure 
which would appear incongruous in relation to the smaller scaled 
garages/outbuildings which are in existence in the rear gardens of 
the properties located in this street and would materially harm the 
character and appearance of the area.  
 
The Inspector noted that the appeal building is situated on a rear 
lane characterised by garages and outbuildings of varying 
appearance and form. Nonetheless, most are single storey and 
modest in scale and their location on the edge of the built-up area 
adjacent to open fields is a further factor which softens the wider 
visual impact. Other tall buildings on the lane, were noted to be 
distanced from the appeal development which would be viewed 
primarily in the context described, including the two low height 
buildings that lie on either side of it.   
 
The finished development would be significantly taller than the 
adjoining buildings and its height would also be reflected in a 

Page 55

Agenda Item 7



building of substantial bulk and volume. Owing to this, in views 
from the lane entrance at Nant Y Gleisiad the development would 
be an overly prominent feature that would disrupt the pleasant 
visual rhythm that is presently derived from the simplistic semi-
rural character of the lane.  
 
Other developments in Resolven drawn to the Inspector’s attention 
were not directly comparable, and having regard to the individual 
context of the appeal proposal, the Inspector concluded that by 
reason of its height and scale, it would cause unacceptable harm 
to the character and appearance of the surrounding area, contrary 
to the objectives of Policy BE1 of the LDP which expects all 
development proposals to demonstrate high quality design.  
Personal considerations put forward by the appellant were not 
sufficient to outweigh the identified harm or the conflict with the 
development plan.  
 
For the above reasons the Inspector dismissed the appeal. 
 

Page 56



SECTION B – MATTERS FOR INFORMATION 

APPEALS RECEIVED 

 

a) Planning Appeals 
 
Appeal Ref: A2017/0003 Planning Ref: P2016/0522 
 
PINS Ref: APP/Y6930/A/17/3168488 
 

Applicant: Mr Gareth Morgan 
 
Proposal: Detached two storey dwelling with off street car 

parking (outline with all matters reserved) 
 
Site Address: Land at 9 New Road, Trebanos Pontardawe 
 
Start Date: 01/02/2017 
 
Appeal Method:  Written Representations 
 

Page 57

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To receive the Minutes of the previous meeting held on 31 January 2017
	4 Application No: P2016/0639 - Re-profiling and change of use of land into residential garden area, retention of outbuilding, retaining wall and hardstanding with associated drainage works to facilitate parking.  Brynawel, Blaenafon, Tonmawr, Port Talbot. SA12 9SY.
	5 Application No: P2016/1051 Variation of condition 1 and 2 of planning permission (ref APP/Y6930/C/163150026 which granted a mixed residential Class C3 and music lesson sui generis use) approved at appeal on 10 October 2016 to increase number of students to 8 and change hours of operation to 12.00 to 20.30hrs Monday to Wednesday, 12.00hrs to 20.00hrs Thursday and Friday and 9.00hrs to 15.00 on Saturdays.  26 Rowan Tree Close, Bryncoch, Neath. SA10 7SJ.
	6 Delegated Applications Determined Between 25 January 2017 and 5 February 2017
	SECTION B – MATTERS FOR INFORMATION

	7 Appeals Determined between the 25 January and 5 February 2017
	8 Appeals Received between the 25 January and the 5 February 2017



